
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT 

 
 

 AND , 
 

 Case No.: 3:15-cv-01057 (SRU) 
Individually and on Behalf of All Others 
Similarly Situated, 

 

  
Plaintiffs,  

v. FIRST AMENDED CLASS ACTION 
COMPLAINT 

VIRIDIAN ENERGY, INC.,  
  

Defendants.  
  

Plaintiffs  (“Plaintiffs”), by their attorneys Wittels Law, 

P.C., Hymowitz Law Group, PLLC., and Garrison, Levin-Epstein, Richardson, Fitzgerald & 

Pirrotti, P.C., bring this consumer protection action in their individual capacity, and on behalf of 

a class of persons defined below, against Viridian Energy, Inc. (“Defendant,” “Viridian,” or the 

“Company”), and hereby allege the following with knowledge as to their own acts, and upon 

information and belief as to all other acts: 

OVERVIEW OF VIRIDIAN’S UNLAWFUL PRACTICES 

1. This case arises out of Viridian’s unfair, deceptive, and unlawful marketing of its energy 

to consumers in New York’s deregulated residential gas and electricity markets.  

2. Until the 1990s, the rate a residential energy supplier could charge was strictly regulated. 

3. In 1996, however, New York’s energy market was opened to competition and in addition 

to traditional utilities, residential gas and electricity consumers were permitted to choose from a 

variety of companies selling energy. 

4. Seizing on deregulation in New York and other states, independent energy companies 

(called Energy Service Companies or “ESCOs”) jumped into the market and have grown rapidly. 
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5. Founded in 2009 and present in New York since 2011, Viridian markets itself as 

providing green energy at prices lower than conventional “brown” energy.  Viridian describes 

this seeming “win, win” in the following ways in its marketing materials and on its website: 

“With Viridian, the choice is simple – consumers are able to lower their energy 
bills and help the environment.”1   
 
“[C]ustomers make a difference in the environment and save money[.]”2   
 
“How many . . . people would like to save money on their energy while helping 
the environment?”3   
 
“[D]o something better for the environment while saving money on your energy 
costs at the same time.”4   
 
“Choose Green Energy.  Get Affordability Too.”5  
 
“Our Mission: Viridian was built on the idea that customers should never have to 
choose between affordability and sustainability.”6  
 
“Choosing a more responsible energy product shouldn’t hurt your budget.”7 
 
“MAKING A DIFFERENCE JUST GOT REALLY EASY”8   
 
“Making the right choice for the environment doesn’t have to cost more.  In fact 
the average Everyday Green customer saves money on energy costs over time.”9   

                                                 
1 Viridian Power with Purpose Brochure, attached as Exhibit 1. 
 
2 Id. 
 
3 Id. 
 
4 October 16, 2013 Letter from Viridian Founder and CEO Michael Fallquist to Plaintiffs, 
attached as Exhibit 2. 
 
5 http://www.viridian.com (last visited December 18, 2015). 
 
6 Viridian 2012 Sustainability Brochure, attached as Exhibit 3 
 
7 http://www.viridian.com/comp-affordably-green.asp?COLA=US EN (last visited December 18, 2015). 
 
8 Viridian Affordable Green Energy Brochure, attached as Exhibit 4  
 
9 Id. 
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“AFFORDABLE GREEN ENERGY”10   
 
“Finally, AFFORDABLE GREEN ENERGY[.]  It’s safe and easy to switch!”11   
 
“Ask us how to $AVE MONEY on your ELECTRIC BILL.”12  

6. Similar to its promise of green energy that is less expensive than conventional energy, 

Viridian also tells consumers that it offers “clean energy choices at competitive prices” and 

“competitive rates.”13 

7. The truth is, however, that Viridian’s energy prices are not lower than the price of 

conventional energy nor are its rates competitive.  Rather, Viridian charges much more than 

sellers of conventional energy, and its rates go up even when the market rate goes down.    

8. To make matters worse, Viridian combines its deceptive marketing with another 

stratagem designed to trap unwary consumers.  Echoing the adjustable rate mortgages that led to 

the foreclosure crisis, Viridian initially sells its energy to consumers via short-term “teaser” 

fixed-rate plans that typically expire within six months.   After these short term fixed-rate plans 

lapse, Viridian then automatically rolls unsuspecting customers into a month-to-month variable 

rate plan with exorbitant energy rates that are neither competitive nor lower than the rates 

charged by sellers of conventional energy. 

                                                 
10Id. 
 
11Affordable Green Energy Flyer, attached as Exhibit 5. 
 
12 $ave Money on Your Electric Bill Flyer, attached as Exhibit 6. 
 
13 See Exhibits 4-5; see also Viridian’s webpage on September 13, 2013, available at: 
https://web.archive.org/web/20130913045539/http://www.viridian.com/ (stating “Viridian Energy is a 
socially responsible energy company providing clean energy choices at competitive prices[.]” and 
“Viridian Energy provides our customers competitive prices for smarter energy choices.”) (last visited 
December 18, 2015). 
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9. By selling itself to consumers as a supplier of green energy at “competitive prices” that 

are below those charged by companies that sell conventional energy, Viridian hides the steep 

variable rates awaiting customers once their teaser rates expire.  Indeed, in failing to disclose that 

the actual rates it charges on its variable-rate plans are neither “competitive,” nor lower than the 

cost of conventional energy, Viridian misleads consumers.   

10. As a result of its misrepresentations and omissions, Viridian has violated not only New 

York’s consumer fraud law, N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law § 349, which prohibits deceptive conduct in 

consumer transactions, but also N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law § 349-d(3), which prohibits deceptive acts and 

practices in the marketing of residential energy services.  Section 349-d(3) is part of a new law, 

called New York’s ESCO Consumers Bill of Rights, which was specifically enacted to combat 

widespread consumer fraud in New York’s energy markets and to protect New York’s energy 

consumers from underhanded business tactics like Viridian’s. 

11. In addition to its deceptive conduct, Viridian also violated New York’s mandatory 

disclosure regime for ESCOs that charge variable energy rates.  Under N.Y. Gen. Bus. Law § 

349-d(7), Viridian was required to clearly and conspicuously identify its variable rate plans’ 

variable charges in all consumer contracts and in all marketing materials.  The purpose of this 

disclosure requirement is to ensure that consumers are adequately apprised of the financial risks 

of enrolling in highly volatile variable rate energy plans.  

12. Rather than complying with § 349-d(7)’s disclosure requirements, Viridian’s marketing 

either does not mention its variable rates at all or buries any reference to its variable rate plans in 

hardly legible fine print.   

13. Further, in addition to its inconspicuousness, Viridian’s contract’s “disclosure” 

concerning how its variable rate is derived is also demonstrably false.  Viridian’s “New York 
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Terms & Conditions” state that the Company’s variable rates are “based on wholesale market 

conditions” applicable to consumers’ existing utility.  Yet contrary to this representation, 

Viridian consistently and improperly charges an extraordinarily high rate for electricity that is 

not based on fluctuations in the underlying market price; indeed, while Viridian hikes up its rates 

as the underlying market price increases, when the market price goes down Viridian keeps its 

rate at an inflated level several times higher than the market rate.  Through this scheme, Viridian 

subjects variable rate consumers to consistent and unlawful “heads I win, tails you lose” pricing. 

14. Further, and as set forth in paragraphs 46 through 49, Viridian routinely charges 

consumers more than three times the underlying market rate, notwithstanding Viridian’s 

contract, which states that the energy company’s variable rates are “based on” monthly 

wholesale electric prices.   

15. Only through a class action can the Company’s customers remedy Viridian’s ongoing 

wrongdoing.  Because the monetary damages suffered by each customer are small compared to 

the much higher cost a single customer would incur in trying to challenge Viridian’s unlawful 

practices, it makes no financial sense for an individual customer to bring his or her own lawsuit.  

Further, many customers don’t realize they are victims of Viridian’s deceptive conduct. 

16. With this class action, Plaintiffs and the Class seek to level the playing field and make 

sure that companies like Viridian engage in fair and upright business practices.  Plaintiffs 

therefore seek equitable relief in addition to monetary damages.  Plaintiffs ask that the Court 

declare Viridian’s business practices impermissible, enjoin Viridian from continuing its 

dishonest practices, require that Viridian return all misappropriated monies, and compensate 

Plaintiffs and the Class for all damages suffered as a result of Viridian’s unlawful acts.   
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PARTIES 

17. Plaintiffs  are married and reside in Brooklyn, NY. 

18. Defendant Viridian Energy, Inc. is a corporation organized under the laws of Nevada 

with its principal place of business located at 1055 Washington St., Stamford, CT 06901. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

19. This Court has jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332 (the 

“Class Action Fairness Act”).  This action meets the prerequisites of the Class Action Fairness 

Act, because the claims of the Class defined below exceed the sum or value of $5,000,000, the 

Class has more than 100 members, and diversity of citizenship exists between at least one 

member of the Class and Defendant. 

20. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Viridian because it maintains sufficient contacts 

in this jurisdiction, including having an office in Connecticut and advertising, marketing, 

distributing, and selling natural gas and electricity to thousands of customers in Connecticut. 

21. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because Viridian resides in 

Stamford, Connecticut. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

I. The Deregulation of New York’s Energy Markets 

22. In 1996, New York deregulated the sale of retail gas and electricity.  As a result of 

deregulation, New York consumers can purchase natural gas and electricity through third-party 

suppliers while continuing to receive delivery of the energy from their existing public utilities. 

23. These third-party energy suppliers are known as energy service companies, or “ESCOs.”  

Since New York opened its retail gas and electric markets to competition, more than a million 

New York consumers have switched to an ESCO. 

24. ESCOs are subject to minimal regulation by New York’s utility regulator, the New York 
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State Public Service Commission (the “PSC”).  ESCOs like Viridian do not have to file their 

rates with the PSC, or the method by which those rates are set. 

25. Indeed, ESCOs neither produce nor deliver the energy they supply.  Rather, ESCOs play 

a middleman role: they purchase power directly or indirectly from companies that produce 

electric power and then sell that electricity to end-user consumers.   It is the power companies 

who deliver the electricity to traditional utilities, which, in turn, deliver the electricity to the 

consumer.  ESCOs merely buy electricity at the wholesale rate and then sell that power to end-

users with a mark-up.  Thus, ESCOs are essentially brokers and traders: they neither make nor 

deliver electricity, but merely buy electricity from the power companies and re-sell it to 

consumers. 

26. If a customer switches to an ESCO, the customer then has his or her energy “supplied” by 

the ESCO, but still “delivered” by their existing utility (in the New York metro area, typically 

Con Edison).  The customer’s existing utility continues to bill the customer for both the energy 

supply and delivery costs.  The only difference to the customer is which company sets the price 

for the customer’s energy supply. 

27. After a consumer switches to an ESCO, the customer’s energy supply charge (based 

either on a customer’s kilowatt hour (electricity) or therm (gas) usage) is calculated using the 

supply rate set by the ESCO, rather than the regulated rate charged by the customer’s former 

utility.  For example, if a consumer uses 145 kWh at a rate of 10.0¢ per kWh, the customer will 

be billed $14.50 (145 x .10¢) for their energy supply. 

28. Like other ESCOs, Viridian purchases power on the wholesale market and sells it to 

consumers.  The market for wholesale power in the New York is under the administration of an 

independent, not-for-profit corporation formed in accordance with the recommendations of the 

Case 3:15-cv-01057-SRU   Document 47   Filed 12/18/15   Page 7 of 25



- 8 - 
 

Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, called New York Independent System Operator 

(“NYISO”).  NYISO coordinates and directs the generation and flow of electricity throughout 

New York, ensuring that electric supply exactly meets demand throughout the network.  The 

wholesale market managed by NYISO determines where and when electricity will be made by 

power companies and the wholesale prices that will be paid for that electricity through 

competitive bids.  

29. The bid process determines the wholesale price that an ESCO like Viridian will pay for 

each unit of energy delivered to specific locations throughout New York.  Further, the NYISO’s 

bid process reflects geographic conditions, establishing “Locational Based Marginal Prices” 

(“LBMP”) for energy that reflect local demand and supply conditions.   

30. NYISO offers two types of bid processes. The first is based upon the day-ahead bids, or 

day-ahead commitment.  The second is based upon the real-time bids and the corresponding real-

time commitment.  Market participants such as ESCOs may participate in the day-ahead and/or 

the real-time market.  Roughly 94% of New York’s energy is purchased in the day-ahead market, 

while the remaining 6% is accounted for in the real-time market. 

II.  Viridian’s Expansion 

31. Founded in 2009, Viridian describes itself as a socially responsible and affordable green 

energy company that offers environmentally conscious consumers a low-cost way to help the 

environment.  On its website, Viridian touts “that green energy doesn’t have to cost more.”14 

32. According to the same website, “[t]oday, Viridian is a robust, highly respected energy 

company with hundreds of thousands of residential and commercial customers.”  With annual 

                                                 
14 Available at: http://customercare.viridian.com/customer/en/portal/articles/2103140-viridian-history 
(last visited December 18, 2015). 
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revenue of $205 million in 2011, merely two years after its inception, Viridian has become a 

dominant player in the deregulated energy markets. 

33. Viridian’s success, however, comes at consumers’ expense.  Using deceptive business 

tactics, Viridian has taken advantage of deregulation and the resulting lack of oversight to sweep 

up customers eager to help the environment while lowering their household energy costs. 

III.  Viridian Uses Promises of Savings and Short-Term Teaser Rates to Hide the 
Financial Risks Consumers Incur by Switching 

34. N.Y. G.B.L. § 349-d, the Energy Services Company Consumers Bill of Rights, was 

enacted to “establish[] important consumer safeguards in the marketing and offering of contracts 

for energy services to residential and small business customers.”  See New York Sponsors 

Memorandum, 2009 A.B. 1558, at 1 (2009).15  As the sponsoring memorandum notes, Section 

349-d sought to end the exact type of deceptive conduct the challenge here: 

Over the past decade, New York has promoted a competitive retail 
model for the provision of electricity and natural gas.  Consumers 
have been encouraged to switch service providers from traditional 
utilities to energy services companies.  Unfortunately, consumer 
protection appears to have taken a back seat in this process. 

* * * 

High-pressure and misleading sales tactics, onerous contracts with 
unfathomable fine print, short-term “teaser” rates followed by 
skyrocketing variable prices – many of the problems recently seen 
with subprime mortgages are being repeated in energy 
competition.  Although the PSC has recently adopted a set of 
guidelines, its “Uniform Business Practices” are limited and omit 
important consumer protections in several areas.  The fact is, 
competition in supplying energy cannot succeed without a 
meaningful set of standards to weed out companies whose business 
model is based on taking unfair advantage of consumers. 

Id. at 3-4 (emphasis added). 

                                                 
15 Attached as Exhibit 7. 
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35. As a result of the above-described concerns, the New York Legislature adopted two 

crucial safeguards meant to protect New York’s residential energy consumers: (1) N.Y. G.B.L. § 

349-d(3), which prohibits deceptive acts or practices in the marketing of energy services; and (2) 

N.Y. G.B.L. § 349-d(7), which requires that “[i]n every contract for energy services and in all 

marketing materials provided to prospective purchasers of such contracts, all variable charges 

shall be clearly and conspicuously identified.” 

36. Through its conduct, Viridian has violated both the spirit and letter of N.Y. G.B.L. § 349-d, 

the law that is explicitly designed to allow energy consumers to make informed choices: “These 

provisions will go a long way toward restoring an orderly marketplace where consumers can 

make informed decisions on their choices for gas and electric service . . . .”  Exhibit 7, New York 

Sponsors Memo at 4. 

37. Viridian markets itself as providing green energy at prices lower than conventional 

energy and signs consumers up to energy plans that charge a low promotional “teaser” rate 

which is fixed for a set number of months before automatically rolling consumers into a variable 

rate plan. 

38. In or around the fall of 2013, Viridian, through one of its direct-marketing associates who 

used Viridian’s uniform marketing materials convinced the that Viridian’s green energy 

was less expensive than conventional energy and was competitively-priced.   Based on these 

statements, the became Viridian electricity customers in or around October 2013.  

Plaintiffs believed that by signing up with Viridian, they would be charged less than what their 

traditional utility would have charged.  Only  name is listed on Plaintiffs’ 

electricity bills, but both  and  participated in the decision to switch. 

39. Upon information and belief, the direct-marketing associate that solicited the  
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through Viridian’s variable rate plan.  In fact, instead of alerting consumers to the risks of its 

variable rates, Viridian’s marketing is deceptive because it highlights that Viridian’s energy is 

less expensive than traditional energy and that it is competitively-priced. 

46. Yet Viridian’s energy was not less expensive than the cost of conventional energy, 

because Viridian charged the $60.28 more than their traditional utility would have 

charged.  As such, Viridian’s essential representation to consumers concerning its green energy – 

that it is less expensive than traditional energy – is patently false. 

47. Viridian’s prices are also not competitive.  Rather, Viridian uses its variable rates as a 

pure profit center, charging more than three times the wholesale market rate.  From June through 

September 2014, when the were enrolled in Viridian’s variable rate plan, Viridian 

charged Plaintiffs several multiples over the market rate.  Further, during July 2014 when market 

rates declined, Viridian’s rates inexplicably increased.  Then, the next month when the market 

rate continued downward, Viridian’s exorbitant rate stayed the same.  The chart on the following 

page sets forth (1) the average wholesale price (in dollars per kilowatt hour) of electricity for the 

market in the NYISO’s day-ahead market during the applicable billing period; (2) the 

rates Viridian charged to Plaintiffs for those same months; and (3) the resulting percentage 

premium that Viridian charged the over the wholesale rate for each bill.16 

 

 

                                                 
16 Given that 94% of New York’s energy is purchased on the day-ahead market, Plaintiffs use the data 
from the NYISO’s day-ahead market.  The conclusion that Viridian’s rates are not competitive is also 
supported by the data from the NYISO’s real-time market, which equally shows that Viridian’s rates can 
move in the opposite direction of the market rate.  The applicable real-time rates are 3.865¢ per kWh 
(June), 3.569¢ per kWh (July), and 3.587¢ per kWh (August) – still substantially lower than Viridian’s 
astronomical rates.   
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MONEY on your ELECTRIC BILL.”).  There is no question that these marketing materials do 

not comply with N.Y. G.B.L. § 349-d(7). 

51. Even when Viridian’s marketing materials mention that the Company charges a variable 

rate, the Company’s “disclosure” is inadequate because it gives consumers no information 

concerning the factors affecting Viridian’s variable rates.  Viridian’s purported disclosures also 

fail to comply with New York law because they are confusing, utterly inconspicuous, and in 

some instances completely false.  For example, in Viridian’s “Affordable Green Energy” 

brochure, the Company states in ultra-fine print that “Viridian may offer two rate plans: variable 

rates, which are subject to change based on market conditions and fixed rates which are fixed for 

an agreed upon number of billing cycles.”  Exhibit 4.  Viridian’s statement that its rates are based 

on “market conditions” is false.  As demonstrated above, Viridian’s variable rates are not based 

on market conditions because when market rates go down Viridian’s rates go up or stay the 

same.  Further, Viridian’s fine print is not clear; what Viridian “may” offer is not disclosive. 

Finally, Viridian’s one-liner is nearly impossible to see and is sandwiched between a list of 

Viridian’s state business license numbers and the statement that the flyer is printed on recycled 

paper – hardly the clear and conspicuous disclosure that is required by New York’s broad, 

consumer-oriented disclosure statute.   

52. The conclusion is the same for the documents Viridian claims it sent to the   

Viridian’s 2012 Sustainability Brochure touts that Viridian’s “Mission” is to ensure that 

“customers should never have to choose between affordability and sustainability[,]” but says 

nothing about Viridian’s variable rates.  Likewise, the welcome letter Viridian maintains was 

sent to Plaintiffs states only in small print that “At the end of your term your service will 

continue on a month-to-month basis on a variable rate plan.”  This inconspicuous disclosure is 
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relegated to the margin of the page, is in the same small print as the other language surrounding 

it, and says nothing about the factors that contribute to Viridian’s variable rates.   

53. Further, as described below, the various incarnations of Viridian’s Terms and Conditions 

since at least April 12, 2013 also violate N.Y. G.B.L. § 349-d(7), which went into effect two years 

earlier on April 1, 2011.  For example, the Terms and Conditions Viridian maintains were mailed 

to Plaintiffs on October 16, 2013 following the enrollment falls far short of Section 

349-d(7)’s statutory disclosure requirements.  Specifically, the Terms and Conditions (attached 

as Exhibit 8) contain the following false and inconspicuous description of how Viridian’s 

variable rate is calculated: “Under Viridian’s Variable Price Everyday Green Plan or Pure Green 

Plan, your price may fluctuate from month-to-month based on wholesale market conditions 

applicable to the [traditional utility’s] service territory.”  Yet, as previously demonstrated, 

Viridian’s variable rate is not “based on wholesale market conditions” because its rate increases 

when the market conditions drive down the wholesale market rate.  To make matters worse, 

Viridian’s description of the factors that determine its variable energy rates is also hidden in the 

fine print.  It is set forth in the same miniscule type size as the other terms in Viridian’s three 

page form contract.  There are no special boxes, colors, or larger font sizes to set off Viridian’s 

(false) description of factors that determine its variable rate. 

54. Viridian’s Terms and Conditions not only violate N.Y. G.B.L. § 349-d(7), but also 

contradict Viridian’s Consumer Bill of Rights that states that the Company’s customers are 

entitled to the “[d]isclosure, in simple and clear language, of the terms and conditions of the 

agreement between [them] and the ESCO including: price and all variable charges or fees . . .” 

55. Finally, Viridian’s practice of charging energy rates that are not based on market 

conditions violates both the terms of its consumer contract and the implied covenant of good 
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faith and fair dealing.   

CLASS ALLEGATIONS 

56. Plaintiffs sue on their own behalf and on behalf of a Class for damages and injunctive 

relief under Rules 23(a), (b)(2), (b)(3), and (c)(4) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.   

57. The Class is preliminarily defined as follows:  All Viridian customers in New York who 

were charged a variable rate for their energy from July 9, 2009 and thereafter (the “Class”). 

58. Excluded from the Class are the officers and directors of Defendant, members of the 

immediate families of the officers and directors of Defendant, and its legal representatives, heirs, 

successors or assigns and any entity in which Defendant has or has had a controlling interest.  

Also excluded are all federal, state and local government entities; and any judge, justice or 

judicial officer presiding over this action and the members of their immediate families and 

judicial staff. 

59. Plaintiffs do not know the exact size of the Class, since such information is in the 

exclusive control of Defendant.  Plaintiffs believe, however, that based on the number of 

Viridian customers, the Class encompass tens of thousands of individuals whose identities can be 

readily ascertained from Defendant’s records.  Accordingly, the members of the Class are so 

numerous that the joinder of all such persons is impracticable. 

60. Plaintiffs are adequate class representatives.  Their claims are typical of the claims of the 

Class and do not conflict with the interests of any other members of the Class.  Plaintiffs and the 

other members of the Class were subject to the same or similar conduct.  Further, Plaintiffs and 

the Class sustained substantially the same injuries and damages arising out of Defendant’s 

conduct. 

61. Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of all Class members.  Plaintiffs 
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have retained competent and experienced class action attorneys to represent their interests and 

those of the Class. 

62. Questions of law and fact are common to the Class and predominate over any questions 

affecting only individual Class members, and a class action will generate common answers to the 

questions below, which are apt to drive the resolution of this action: 

a. Whether Defendant’s conduct violates New York General Business Law §349-d; 
 
b. Whether Defendant’s conduct violates New York General Business Law §349; 
 
c. Whether Defendant’s conduct breaches the terms of Viridian’s consumer contract; 
 
d. Whether Defendant’s conduct violates the implied covenant of good faith and fair 

dealing; 
 
e. Whether the Class members have been injured by Defendant’s conduct; 
 
f. Whether, and to what extent, equitable relief should be imposed on Defendant to 

prevent it from continuing its unlawful practices; and 
 

g. The extent of class-wide injury and the measure of damages for those injuries. 
 

63. A class action is superior to all other available methods for resolving this controversy 

because i) the prosecution of separate actions by Class members will create a risk of 

adjudications with respect to individual Class members that will, as a practical matter, be 

dispositive of the interests of the other Class members not parties to this action, or substantially 

impair or impede their ability to protect their interests; ii) the prosecution of separate actions by 

Class members will create a risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications with respect to 

individual Class members, which will establish incompatible standards for Defendant’s conduct; 

iii) Defendant has acted or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to all Class members; 

and iv) questions of law and fact common to the Class predominate over any questions affecting 

only individual Class members.  
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64. Further, the following issues are also appropriately resolved on a class-wide basis under 

Fed. R. Civ. P.  23(c)(4): 

a. Whether Defendant’s conduct violates New York General Business Law §349-d; 
 

b. Whether Defendant’s conduct violates New York General Business Law §349; 
 

c. Whether Defendant’s conduct breaches the terms of Viridian’s consumer contract; 
 
d. Whether Defendant’s conduct violates the implied covenant of good faith and fair 

dealing; and  
 

e. Whether, and to what extent, equitable relief should be imposed on Defendant to 
prevent it from continuing its unlawful practices; 
 

65. Accordingly, this action satisfies the requirements set forth under Fed. R. Civ. P.  23(a), 

23(b), and 23(c)(4). 

COUNT I 
New York General Business Law § 349-d(7) 

66. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference each and every allegation contained in 

the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

67. Plaintiffs bring this claim under N.Y. G.B.L. § 349-d(7) on their own behalf and on behalf 

of each member of the Class who became a Viridian customer on or after July 9, 2012. 

68. N.Y. G.B.L. § 349-d(7) provides that “[i]n every contract for energy services and in all 

marketing materials provided to prospective purchasers of such contracts, all variable charges 

shall be clearly and conspicuously identified.” 

69. Defendant’s marketing materials either fail to disclose that Viridian charges a variable 

rate or falsely describe the components that make up Viridian’s variable rate, and/or fail to make 

the required disclosure in a clear and conspicuous manner.  Indeed, some of the brochures 

created and distributed by Viridian to the  other Class members make no reference at 

all to the fact that Viridian’s rates may be variable, and similarly fail to provide a clear and 
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conspicuous explanation of the factors affecting Viridian’s variable rates.   

70. In other instances, Viridian’s marketing materials contain fleeting, confusing, and/or false 

descriptions buried in miniscule fine print of the factors affecting Viridian’s variable rates.   

71. Viridian’s Terms and Conditions in effect during the relevant times and provided to 

consumers – after they are enrolled – likewise do not clearly and conspicuously inform consumers 

about Viridian’s variable energy rates or the factors affecting Viridian’s variable rates.   

72. Through its conduct described above, Defendant has violated N.Y. G.B.L. § 349-d(7) and 

caused financial injury to Plaintiffs and Viridian’s other variable rate customers. 

73. Because Viridian’s Terms and Conditions violate N.Y. G.B.L. § 349-d(7), they are void 

and unenforceable as contrary to New York’s public policy under Section 349-d(8).  Further, any 

purported waiver by Plaintiffs of the rights afforded by Section 349-d is void and unenforceable 

by Viridian.  See N.Y. G.B.L. § 349-d(8). 

74. N.Y. G.B.L. §349-d(10) also provides that “any person who has been injured by reason 

of any violation of this section may bring an action in his or her own name to enjoin such 

unlawful act or practice, an action to recover his or her actual damages or five hundred dollars, 

whichever is greater, or both such actions.  The court may, in its discretion, increase the award of 

damages to an amount not to exceed three times the actual damages up to ten thousand dollars, if 

the court finds the defendant willfully or knowingly violated this section.  The court may award 

reasonable attorney’s fees to a prevailing plaintiff.” 

75. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s conduct, Plaintiffs and the Class have 

suffered injury and monetary damages in an amount to be determined at the trial of this action 

but not less than $500 for each violation, such damages to be trebled, plus attorney’s fees and 

expenses. 
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76. Plaintiffs and the other members of the Class further seek an order enjoining Defendant 

from undertaking any further unlawful conduct.  Pursuant to N.Y. G.B.L. § 349-d(10), this Court 

has the power to award such relief. 

COUNT II 
New York General Business Law § 349-d(3) 

77. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference each and every allegation contained in 

the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

78. N.Y. G.B.L. §349-d(3) provides that “[n]o person who sells or offers for sale any energy 

services for, or on behalf of, an ESCO shall engage in any deceptive acts or practices in the 

marketing of energy services.” 

79. Defendant offers for sale energy services for and on behalf of an ESCO.  

80. Plaintiffs bring this claim under New York General Business Law §349-d(3) on their own 

behalf and on behalf of each member of the Class who was a Viridian customer in a variable-rate 

plan on or after July 9, 2012. 

81. Defendant has engaged in, and continues to engage in, deceptive acts and practices in 

violation of N.Y. G.B.L. § 349-d(3) by marketing its green energy as less expensive than 

traditional energy and by telling consumers that its energy is competitively priced.  Viridian also 

fails to disclose to consumers that the actual rates that it charges on its variable-rate plans are 

neither “competitive” nor less expensive than the cost of conventional energy.  

82. The aforementioned acts are willful, unfair, unconscionable, deceptive, and contrary to 

the public policy of New York, which aims to protect consumers. 

83. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s unlawful deceptive acts and practices, 

Plaintiffs and the Class have suffered injury and monetary damages in an amount to be 

determined at the trial of this action but not less than $500 for each violation, such damages to be 
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trebled, plus attorneys’ fees and expenses. 

84. Plaintiffs and the other members of the Class further seek an order enjoining Defendant 

from undertaking any further unlawful conduct.  Pursuant to N.Y. G.B.L. § 349-d(10), this Court 

has the power to award such relief. 

COUNT III 
New York General Business Law § 349 

85. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference each and every allegation contained in 

the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

86. Plaintiffs bring this claim under N.Y. G.B.L. §349 on their own behalf and on behalf of 

each member of the Class.  

87. Defendant has engaged in, and continues to engage in, deceptive acts and practices in 

violation of N.Y. G.B.L. § 349 by marketing its green energy as less expensive than traditional 

energy and by telling consumers that its energy is competitively priced.  Viridian also fails to 

disclose to consumers that the actual rates that it charges on its variable-rate plans are neither 

“competitive” nor less expensive than the cost of conventional energy. 

88. The aforementioned acts are willful, unfair, unconscionable, deceptive, and contrary to 

the public policy of New York, which aims to protect consumers. 

89. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s unlawful deceptive acts and practices, 

Plaintiffs and the Class have suffered injury and monetary damages in an amount to be 

determined at the trial of this action but not less than $50 for each violation, such damages to be 

trebled, plus attorney’s fees and expenses. 

90. Plaintiffs and the other members of the Class further seek equitable relief against 

Defendant.  Pursuant to N.Y. G.B.L. §349, this Court has the power to award such relief, 

including but not limited to, an order declaring Defendant’s practices as alleged herein to be 
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unlawful, an order enjoining Defendant from undertaking any further unlawful conduct, and an 

order directing Defendant to refund to Plaintiffs and the Class all amounts wrongfully assessed, 

collected, or withheld. 

COUNT IV 
Breach of Contract (In the Alternative to the Statutory Counts) 

91. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference each and every allegation contained in 

the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

92. Plaintiffs bring this claim on their own behalf and on behalf of each member of the Class. 

93. If Viridian’s contract is not found to be void on account of Viridian’s violations of N.Y. 

G.B.L. § 349-d, then Plaintiffs and the Class are parties to a contract with Viridian.   

94. In relevant part, Viridian’s New York Terms & Conditions states: 

Under Viridian’s Variable Price Everyday Green Plan or Pure Green Plan, your 
price may fluctuate from month-to-month based on wholesale market conditions 
applicable to the [traditional utility’s] service territory. 

 
95. Defendant Viridian has breached its contract with Plaintiffs and the Class by charging 

exorbitant energy rates that are not based on “wholesale market conditions” because when 

wholesale market rates go down Viridian’s rates go up or stay the same. 

96.  By reason of the foregoing, Plaintiffs and the Class have suffered injury and money 

damages in an amount to be determined at the trial of this action.  

COUNT V 
Breach of Good Faith and Fair Dealing (In the Alternative to the Statutory Counts) 

97. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference each and every allegation contained in 

the preceding paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

98. Plaintiffs bring this claim on their own behalf and on behalf of each member of the Class. 

99. If Viridian’s contract is not found to be void on account of Viridian’s violations of N.Y. 

G.B.L. § 349-d, then Plaintiffs and the Class are parties to a contract with Viridian.   
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100. All contracts contain an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, including 

Plaintiffs and the Class’ contracts with Viridian. 

101.  Viridian’s New York Terms and Conditions state that any increases or decreases to the 

rate under its variable rate plan are to be based on wholesale market conditions applicable to the 

consumers’ traditional utility service territory. 

102. Viridian has billed exorbitant rates that are not tied to market conditions and increased its 

variable rates when wholesale markets rise, but has not commensurately decreased its variable 

rate when wholesale markets fall. 

103. As a result, consumers are billed exorbitant rates that are several multiples of the 

wholesale market rate. 

104. Viridian’s failure to adhere in good faith to its own New York Terms and Conditions, and 

instead seek to maximize its revenue from variable rates impedes the right of Plaintiffs and the 

Class to receive benefits that they reasonably expected to receive under the contract. 

105. Upon information and belief, Viridian’s actions were performed in bad faith, in that the 

purpose behind Viridian’s practices and policies was to maximize Viridian’s revenue at the 

expense of its customers. 

106. By reason of the foregoing, Plaintiffs and the Class have suffered injury and money 

damages in an amount to be determined at the trial of this action.  
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs  respectfully request that the Court: 

a. Issue an order certifying the Class defined above, appointing Plaintiffs as Class 
representatives, and designating the undersigned firms as Class Counsel; 
 

b. Find that Defendant has committed the violations of law alleged herein; 
 

c. Enter an order granting monetary relief pursuant to N.Y. G.B.L. §349-d on behalf of the 
Class; 
 

d. Enter an order granting monetary relief pursuant to N.Y. G.B.L. §349 on behalf of the 
Class; 
 

e. Declare that Defendant has breached its contracts with Plaintiffs and the Class; 
 

f. Declare that Defendant has violated its duty of good faith and fair dealing to Plaintiffs 
and the Class; 
 

g. Render an award of compensatory damages, the precise amount of which is to be 
determined at trial; 
 

h. Issue an injunction or other appropriate equitable relief requiring Defendant to refrain 
from engaging in the deceptive practices alleged herein; 
 

i. Render an award of punitive damages; 
 

j. Enter judgment including interest, costs, reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs, and expenses; 
and 
 

k. Grant all such other relief as the Court deems appropriate. 
 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Pursuant to Rule 38 of the Fed. R. Civ. P.,  

request trial by jury in this action of all issues so triable. 
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Dated:    December 18, 2015 
               New Haven, Connecticut  

 
      By:  /s/ Steven L. Wittels, Esq.    
                                          Steven L. Wittels, Esq. 

 
Steven L. Wittels, Esq. 
J. Burkett McInturff, Esq. 
Tiasha Palikovic, Esq. 

 Wittels Law, P.C. 
 18 Half Mile Road 
 Armonk, NY 10504 
 Phone: (914) 319-9945 

Facsimile: (914) 273-2563 
 e-mail: slw@wittelslaw.com 

jbm@wittelslaw.com 
tpalikovic@wittelslaw.com  
 

Lead Counsel for Plaintiffs and the Class   
 
 
Joseph D. Garrison, Esq. 
Garrison, Levin-Epstein,  
Richardson, Fitzgerald & Pirrotti, P.C 

 405 Orange Street, New Haven, CT 06511  
 Phone: (203) 777-4425 

Facsimile: (203) 776-3965 
 e-mail: jgarrison@garrisonlaw.com  

 
Daniel Hymowitz, Esq. 
Andrey Belenky, Esq. 

 Hymowitz Law Group, PLLC 
 45 Broadway, 27th Floor 
 New York, NY 10006 
 Phone: 212-913-0401 

Facsimile: (866) 521-6040 
 e-mail: daniel@hymowitzlaw.com  

abelenky@hymowitzlaw.com 
     
Co-Counsel for Plaintiffs and the Class   
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